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The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) respectfully submits this
memorandum of law in support of its Application for an Order to Show Cause and for an Order
Requiring Compliance with Subpoenas (“Application™). For the reasons set forth below, and in
the accompanying Declaration of Amanda L. Straub dated June 20, 2014 (“Straub Decl.”) and
the exhibits thereto, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court enter an order, in the
form attached to the Application, directing respondents the Committee on Ways and Means of
the U.S. House of Representatives (the “Committee”) and Brian Sutter (“Sutter”) (collectively,
“Respondents™) to comply with the investigative sqbpoenas (the “Subpoenas™) the Commission
lawfully issued and served on them.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Commission is investigating whether material nonpublic information concerning the
April 1, 2013 announcement by the U.S. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”)
of 2014 reimbursement rates for the Medicare Advantage program was leaked improperly to
certain members of the public in advance of CMS’s announcement, and whether such action
resulted in insider trading in violation of the federal securities laws. As part of its formal
investigation, the Commission properly served Respondents with the Subpoenas, which seek
documents and testimony critical to the Commission’s investigation.

Respondents have refused to comply with the Subpoenas, asserting numerous objections,
arguing, among other things, that the Subpoenas are “repugnant to public policy”; that they are
vague and overbroad; that the Speech or Debate Clause of the U.S. Constitution entitles
Respondents to avoid production of any documents or testimony; and that one agency of the
federal government is somehow barred by sovereign immunity from fulfilling its statutory duty

to investigate violations of the federal securities laws.



As explained below, these objections lack merit, and the Subpoenas satisfy all the
requirements for enforcement. As such, the Court, pursuant to Section 21(c) of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(c), should issue an order compelling Respondents to comply promptly with
the Subpoenas.

STATEMENT OF FACTS
A. THE COMMISSION’S INVESTIGATION

On April 1, 2013, approximately 20 minutes after the close of market trading, CMS
released its final 2014 Medicare Advantage reimbursement rates (the “Rate Announcement”).
Straub Decl. § 9. The Rate Announcement was far more favorable to certain health care insurers
than preliminary rates CMS had announced on February 15, 2013. According to that preliminary
announcement six weeks earlier, payments from Medicare Advantage to insurers would have
declined by 2.3% from the prior year. In contrast, the rates released in the final Rate
Announcement on April 1 increased the payment rates by 3.5% from the prior year. Straub Decl.
9 10.

CMS effected this change through a significant alteration to its methodology. The
agency incorporated into its calculation the assumption that Congress would eventually act to
prevent the scheduled reduction in Medicare physician payment rates called for under the
statutory “sustainable growth rate” (“SGR”) formula — as Congress had done in preceding
years. Previously, CMS had not assumed this override would occur. /d. 11 & Ex. A.

Approximately 20 minutes before the markets closed on April 1 (and thus approximately
40 minutes before CMS’s Rate Announcement), an analyst at Height Securities, LLC (“Height”),
a broker-dealer, released the following “flash report™:

1. We now believe that a deal has been hatched to protect
Medicare Advantage rates from the -2.3% rate update issued in the



advanced notice mid-February
2. We believe that the SGR will be assumed in the trends going
forward resulting in roughly a 4% increase in cost trends
3. This is a drastic change in historical policy aimed to smooth the
confirmation of Marylyn Tavernier [sic]l
4. We are supportive of MA related stocks (HUM, HNT) under
this circumstance
Id 9 13. Height sent its report to dozens of clients, including prominent investment funds. /d.
Within five minutes after Height released this report, the prices and trading volumes of
stocks of those health care insurers affected by these modified rates increased dramatically. For
example, the price of Humana Inc. stock increased by as much as 7% in the last fifteen minutes
of trading. Among those trading in these stocks were clients of Height. /d. 14 & Ex. B.
Approximately half an hour before the Height analyst distributed the flash report (and
about 70 minutes before the Rate Announcement), he had received the following email from a
lobbyist and attorney at Greenberg Traurig, LLP (“Greenberg Traurig”) (the “GT Lobbyist™):
Our intel is that a deal was already hatched by [Sen.] Hatch to
smooth the way for Tavenner as long as they address the MA rates
in the final notice. We have heard from very credible sources that
the final notice will adjust the phase in on risk adjustment and take
into account the likelihood/certainty of an SGR fix.

Id q12.

On April 9, 2013, the Commission staff opened a formal investigation, In the Matter of
Humana (the “Humana Investigation™), to determine, among other things, the source(s) of
information in the email sent from the GT Lobbyist to Height, the circumstances surrounding the
transmittal of that information, and whether any conduct relating to the transmittal constituted

insider trading. The Commission’s Formal Order of Investigation, issued pursuant to Exchange

Act Section 21(a), 15 U.S.C. § 78u(a), authorizes it to issue subpoenas. Straub Decl. { 7-8.

' At that time, Marilyn Tavenner was the Acting Administrator of CMS. She was confirmed in
May 2013 as Administrator of the agency.



B. RESPONDENTS

1. The Committee

The Committee is a committee of the U.S. House of Representatives. Its jurisdiction
includes Medicare. Id. | 5.

2. Sutter

Sutter is the Staff Director of the Committee’s Health Subcommittee, a position he has
held since April 22, 2013. Id. 9 6. Before becoming Staff Director (i.e., during the relevant
period), Sutter was a staff member to the Subcommittee. Id.

Information obtained by the Commission staff as part of its investigation indicates that
Sutter spoke several times in March 2013 to a colleague of the GT Lobbyist. Id. § 16. He also
communicated with at least two individuals at CMS in the week before the Rate Announcement.
Id § 17. Further, on April 1,2013 at 11:07 a.m. (the day that Height disseminated the CMS
information in advance of the public announcement), Sutter emailed the GT Lobbyist about the
termination of one of the lobbyist’s clients from the Medicare Advantage program. Id. § 18. The
GT Lobbyist asked if he could speak to Sutter, and they spoke by telephone at approximately 3
p.m., ten minutes before the GT Lobbyist sent the email to Height Securities. Id. Y 18-19

During the Commission’s investigation, the GT Lobbyist acknowledged that during this
conversation with Sutter, he and Sutter spoke about the impending Rate Announcement by CMS,
which was due to come out after the close of trading at 4 p.m. that day. /d. §20. At3:11 p.m,,
the GT Lobbyist sent his email to Height Securities, claiming that he had learned from “very
credible sources that the final notice will adjust the phase in on risk adjustment and take into
account the likelihood/certainty of an SGR fix.” See Section A, supra; Straub Decl. ] 12.

An agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation and an investigator from the Office of



the Inspector General at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS OIG”)
interviewed Sutter several weeks after the Rate Announcement and discussed with him his
communications with the GT Lobbyist, among other topics. Sutter said he did not recall
speaking to the GT Lobbyist about the Rate Announcement. No Commission staff were present
during this discussion. /d. §J21. Several days later, an attorney for the House of Representatives
(“House Counsel”) sent the FBI and HHS OIG a letter in which he indicated that the information
provided during his voluntary interview with the FBI and HHS OIG was incomplete and, on at
least one key issue, inaccurate:

I understand that you may have asked Mr. Sutter whether he ever

had used his mobile telephone to speak with [the GT Lobbyist].

Mr. Sutter may have answered that he could not recall doing so,

which would have been a correct statement of Mr. Sutter’s

memory at the time. With the benefit of some time for reflection,

Mr. Sutter’s best recollection now is that he previously may have

used his mobile telephone to speak with [the GT Lobbyist],

although he is not certain. It is also possible that Mr. Sutter may

have made other statements in the course of his interrogation that,

while an accurate reflection of his memory at the time, might merit

clarification if, for example, Mr. Sutter were to review records that
could refresh his memory.

Id 9§ 22. To the staff’s knowledge, Sutter has never met with the FBI, HHS OIG, or any federal
agency to clarify his earlier statements. Id. 23.

In addition to the information discussed above, the Commission has obtained some other
information during the course of its investigation indicating that Sutter may have been a source
of the GT Lobbyist’s non-public information. Id. §24.2
C. THE INVESTIGATIVE SUBPOENAS

Beginning in January 2014, the Commission staff attempted to obtain a voluntary

production of documents from the Committee and Sutter, and an informal interview with Sutter.

2 Under the terms of a confidentiality agreement, the Commission is not at liberty to specify this
additional information at this time. /d.



Id. 9 26. House Counsel communicated an unwillingness to produce documents or to make
Sutter available for an interview in several exchanges of correspondence. After several failed
attempts to obtain such information voluntarily, on May 6, 2014, the Commission staff issued the
Subpoenas (Straub Decl. Exhs. C and D), one of which is directed to the Committee and seeks
documents, and the other of which is directed to Sutter and seeks documents and testimony. Id. §
27. House Counsel accepted service on behalf of the Committee and Sutter. Id.

The Subpoenas both call for the following targeted categories of documents relevant to
the investigation for a very limited time-period — from February 10, 2013, through and
including April 10, 2013:

— All documents concerning communications between Sutter and any member or
employee of Greenberg Traurig (Request No. 1);

— All documents concerning communications between Sutter and CMS (Request No.
2);

— All documents concerning communications to, from, copying, or blind-copying Sutter
concerning (i) the preliminary 2014 Medicare Advantage payment rates announced
by CMS on February 15, 2013, and/or (ii) the final 2014 Medicare Advantage
payment rates announced by CMS on April 1, 2013 (together, the “Medicare
Advantage Rates”) (Request No. 3);

— All documents concerning communications to, from, copying, or blind-copying Sutter
concerning the potential confirmation of Marilyn Tavenner as CMS Administrator by
the U.S. Senate (Request No. 4); and

— All documents created by Sutter or in Sutter’s files, concerning (i) [the relevant
individuals at Greenberg Traurig] (ii) the Medicare Advantage Rates; and/or (iii) the

potential confirmation of Marilyn Tavenner as CMS Administrator by the U.S.
Senate. (Request No. 5).

Straub Decl. Exs. C&D. In addition, the Subpoena to the Committee calls for records from
Sutter’s work telephones. Id. Ex. C (Committee Subpoena Request No 6). Finally, the
Subpoena to Sutter calls for documents sufficient to show all of Sutter’s personal and work

telephone numbers and email addresses. /d. Ex. D (Sutter Subpoena Request No. 6).



D. RESPONDENTS’ REFUSAL TO COMPLY WITH THE SUBPOENAS

On May 7, 2014, House Counsel sent the staff a letter with questions about the subject
matter of the Subpoenas, pursuant to House rules, and stating that “at least some, and perhaps all,
of the documents that your agency has demanded are protected by the Speech or Debate Clause,
U.S. Const. art. I, § 6, cl. 1, and it is plausible, if not likely, that matters about which you may
seek to question Mr. Sutter will be protected in the same fashion.” Id. § 30 & Ex. E. The
Commission staff responded by letter on May 8, 2014, answering questions posed by the May 7
letter and indicating that it did not believe that the materials requested implicated the Speech or
Debate Clause. /d. §31 & Ex. F. The staff’s May 8 letter also indicated that the staff would be
“happy to discuss with you your views on the applicability of the Speech or Debate Clause” to
the categories of information sought in the Subpoenas, Straub Decl. Ex. F, at 2, and suggested
that Respondents produce logs of any documents over which they asserted privileges or
protections from discovery. Id. at 3.

By letter dated May 19, 2014, the return date for the document Subpoenas, Respondents
formally announced their wholesale refusal to comply with the Subpoenas, insisted that the
Subpoenas were “repugnant to public policy,” asserted nearly a dozen objections, many of which
lacked an explanation, and requested that the Commission withdraw the Subpoenas. Straub
Decl. {32 & Ex. G.

Even though the Subpoenas call for a targeted set of documents from the files of one
individual over a two-month period of time, Respondents labeled them “vague, confusing,
overbroad, and unduly burdensome.” Straub Decl. Ex. G, at 2. Respondents further objected
that the Subpoenas are barred by the Speech or Debate Clause and other immunities. /d. at 1-2.

In an attempt to resolve this matter without the necessity of litigation, the staff proposed a



compromise to Respondents’ counsel by letter dated June 11, 2014, which Respondents rejected
on June 17, 2014. Straub Decl. §33 & Exs. H& L.

Respondents’ refusal to provide documents or testimony is particularly puzzling, as it
appears contrary to the spirit of recent legislation. In April 2012, Congress affirmed
unambiguously that “Members of Congress and employees of Congress are not exempt from the
insider trading prohibitions arising under the securities laws” when it enacted the Stop Trading
On Congressional Knowledge (“STOCK™) Act, 112 P.L. 105, 126 Stat. 291, 292. Congress was
clear about why insider trading prohibitions apply to its Members and employees:

[E]ach Member of Congress or employee of Congress owes a duty arising from a

relationship of trust and confidence to the Congress, the United States

Government, and the citizens of the United States with respect to material,

nonpublic information derived from such person’s position as a Member of

Congress or employee of Congress or gained from the performance of such

person’s official responsibilities.

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) Section 21A(g)(1), 15 U.S.C. § 78u-1(g)(1).

Respondents’ objections lack merit, and the Commission now invokes this Court’s aid in
enforcing the Subpoenas requiring the attendance of Sutter for testimony and the production of
the requested documents.

ARGUMENT
L THE SUBPOENAS SATISFY ALL REQUIREMENTS FOR ENFORCEMENT

The Commission has “broad authority to conduct investigations into possible violations
of the federal securities laws and to demand the production of evidence relevant to such
investigations.” SEC v. Jerry T. O’Brien, Inc., 467 U.S. 735, 741 (1984); see also 15U.S.C. §

78u(a)(1). Section 21(c) of the Exchange Act authorizes the Commission to seek an order from

this Court compelling Respondents to comply with the subpoenas.® See 15 U.S.C. § 78u(c).

? Venue properly lies in the Southern District of New York because this District is “the
8



“The courts’ role in a proceeding to enforce an administrative subpoena is extremely
limited,” and courts should enforce such subpoenas if “the inquiry is within the authority of the
agency, the demand is not too indefinite and the information sought is reasonably relevant.” RNR
Enters., Inc. v. SEC, 122 F.3d 93, 96-97 (2d Cir. 1997) (affirming order directing compliance
with Commission subpoenas) (quotations omitted). To obtain an order enforcing the Subpoenas
under Section 21(c), the Commission must meet four requirements: “[1] that the investigation
will be conducted pursuant to a legitimate purpose, [2] that the inquiry may be relevant to the
purpose, [3] that the information sought is not already within the Commission[’s] possession,
and [4] that the administrative steps required...have been followed.” RNR Enters., 122 F.3d at
96-97 (quoting United States v. Powell, 379 U.S. 48, 57-58 (1964)); see also SEC v. Arthur
Young & Co., 584 F.2d 1018, 1021, 1024 (D.C. Cir. 1978) (affirming enforcement of
Commission subpoenas). “An affidavit from a governmental official is sufficient to establish a
prima facie showing that these requirements have been met.” RNR Enters., 122 F.3d at 97
(citation omitted). Once the Commission has made a prima facie showing, Respondents can
defeat the enforcement of the Subpoenas only by demonstrating that the Subpoenas are
“unreasonabl[e],” “issued in bad faith or for an improper purpose,” or “that compliance would be
unnecessarily burdensome.” RNR Enters., 122 F.3d at 97 (quoting SEC v. Brigadoon Scotch
Distrib. Co., 480 F.2d 1047, 1056 (2d Cir. 1973)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The Commission satisfies each of the four requirements for enforcement of the
Subpoenas. First, the Humana Investigation concerns possible insider trading in the stocks of a
number of health care companies in violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 and is accordingly a matter well within the legitimate scope of the Commission’s authority.

jurisdiction [in] which [the] investigation . . . is carried on.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u(c). The Humana
Investigation is being conducted by the staff of the Commission’s New York Regional Office.
Straub Decl. 8.



